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>>Directors’ Report

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of operations
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and an associate are set
out in Note 34 and Note 20 to the financial statements respectively.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 49.

The interim dividend of approximately RMB27,871,000 was paid on 15 December 2006.

Subject to the approval of the Directors’ recommendation by shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held on 17
August 2007, the final dividend will be paid on 24 August 2007.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 51 and Note 33 to the financial staements on page 93 respectively.

Distributable reserves
At 31 March 2007, the Company’s share premium reserve of approximately RMB1,699,017,000 (subject to Section 34 of
the Cayman Islands Companies Law and the Article of Association of the Company) and retained profits of approximately
RMB178,603,000 were available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Final Dividends
The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.065 (2006: HK$0.057) per share to the shareholders on
the register of members as of 15 August 2007 amounting to approximately HK$81,655,000 (2006: HK$71,097,000).

Property, plant and equipment
Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year totaled RMB166,869,000 (2006: RMB101,816,000),
comprising principally construction in progress and machinery and equipment.

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Share capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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Share option scheme
The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 4 September 2003 whereby the Directors of the Company
(“Directors”) are authorized, at their discretion, to invite, inter alias, employees of the Group, including Directors of any
company in the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The exercise price of the options is the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant and (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The options are exercisable for a
period to be notified by the Directors to each grantee. Such period will not exceed ten years from the date on which the option
is granted.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options and yet to be exercised
under the share option scheme and any other scheme of the Company shall, subject to refreshment in accordance with the
requirements set out in Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”), shall not exceed 30% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time. Subject
always to the above overall limit, the Directors may grant options under the share option scheme, generally and without further
authority, in respect of a maximum of 83,000,000 shares (including options granted but excluding options lapsed).

In respect of the maximum entitlement of each participant under the scheme, the number of shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted and to be granted in any 12-month period up to the date of grant to each participant
is limited to 1% of the total issued share capital of the Company in issue.

A total of 21,025,000 share options were granted to eligible participants on 26 September 2006 under the share option
scheme of the Company. 125,000 share options lapsed due to the resignation of an employee.

Details of the movements in share options of the Company are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association and there were no pre-emptive rights
under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 98 to
100.

Purchase, sale or redemption of securities
Save as disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements in relation to the placing and subscription of 170,000,000 shares,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares.
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Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Ms. Lilly Huang (Chairman)
Mr. Zhou Tian Bao
Ms. Zhang Zhen Juan
Mr. Yang Bin
Mr. Dai Wei
Mr. Chen Xiang Dong

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky
Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy
Mr. Zhang Jian Chun (appointed with effect from 1 April 2006)
Mr. Wu Chao Ying (resigned with effect from 1 April 2006)

Each independent non-executive director provided an annual confirmation of his or her independence to the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2007 and the Company confirmed that each of them was still considered to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association , Mr. Dai Wei, Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky, and Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment
Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors of the Company entered into a service agreement with the
Company. Each of these service agreements is for an initial term of 3 years renewable automatically for successive terms of
one year each commencing from the day next after the expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party for not
less than three months’ prior written notice and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years at the annual general meeting pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company. Each independent non-executive
director entered into appointment letters with the Company for a term of 2 years from the date of the appointment letter and
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three years at the annual general meeting pursuant to the
Articles of Association thereafter. No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.
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Directors’ emoluments
Details of the remuneration of the Directors pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in Note 12 to the financial
statements.

Directors’ interests in contracts
Save for those transactions described in the note “Related Party Transactions” in Note 38 to the financial statements and the
section “Continuing connected transactions” below, none of the Directors had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

Biographical details of Directors and senior management
Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on pages 32 to 36.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures
At 31 March 2007, the interests and short positions of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers were as follows:

Number of shares held
Approximate

Underlying aggregate
shares of percentage

Personal Corporate outstanding  of interests
Name of director interest interest Total share options (Note 3)

Ms. Lilly Huang (Note 1) — 600,000,000 600,000,000 — 47.95%
Mr. Zhou Tian Bao (Note 2) 8,832,000 645,000,000 653,832,000 — 52.25%
Ms. Zhang Zhen Juan — — — 5,000,000 —
Mr. Dai Wei — — — 2,500,000 —
Mr. Chen Xiang Dong — — — 2,500,000 —
Mr. Yang Bin — — — 500,000 —
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis — — — 250,000 —
Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky — — — 250,000 —

Details of share options granted to Directors are stated in the note “Share-based Payments” in Note 31 to the financial
statements.

Interests in shares and underlying shares stated above represent long positions.
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Notes:

(1) The shares are held by Century Founders Group Limited in which Ms. Lilly Huang owns a 63% shareholding interest. Ms. Lilly Huang is
therefore deemed to be interested in the entire interest of Century Founders Group Limited in the Company for the purpose of Part XV of
the SFO.

(2) Mr. Zhou Tian Bao is interested and deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 653,832,000 shares in the Company. These shares are
held in the following capacity:

i) 8,832,000 shares are held in his personal name;

ii) 45,000,000 shares are held by Mark Up Investments Limited which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Tian Bao. Mr. Zhou
Tian Bao is therefore deemed to be interested in the entire interest of Mark Up Investments Limited in the Company for the purpose
of Part XV of the SFO;

iii) 600,000,000 shares are held by Century Founders Group Limited in which Mark Up Investments Limited own a 37% shareholding
interest. Mr. Zhou Tian Bao is therefore deemed to be interested in the entire interest of Century Founders Group Limited in the
Company for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(3) The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of the total number of issued shares of the Company (ie. 1,251,367,851
shares) as at 31 March 2007.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company was interested or had any short
position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2007.

Interest of substantial shareholders
So far as is known to any Directors of the Company, as at 31 March 2007, other than the interests of the Directors of the
Company as disclosed above, the following persons had interests in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder shares held shareholding
(Note 3)

Century Founders Group Limited (Note 2) 600,000,000 47.95%
Mark Up Investments Limited 645,000,000 51.54%
Ms. Lilly Huang (Note 2) 600,000,000 47.95%
Mr. Zhou Tian Bao 653,832,000 52.25%
Sansar Capital Management, LLC 149,734,000 11.97%
Templeton Asset Management Limited 79,603,000 6.36%

Notes:

(1) Interests in shares stated above represent long positions.

(2) Century Founders Group Limited owns 600,000,000 Shares. Ms. Lilly Huang owns a 63% shareholding interest in Century Founders
Group Limited and the remaining 37% shareholding interest is owned by Mark Up Investments Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Zhou Tian Bao.

(3) The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of the total number of issued shares (ie. 1,251,367,851 shares) of the
Company as at 31 March 2007.

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2007, no other person (other than the
Directors of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Company’s shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.
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Major customers and suppliers
During the year, the Group purchased 48.3% and 16.4% of its goods and services from its 5 largest suppliers and its largest
supplier respectively. Also, the Group sold 41.8% and 9.1% of its goods and services to its 5 largest customers and its largest
customer respectively.

Save as disclosed in Note 38 to the financial statements, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in Note 38 to the financial
statements.

Continuing connected transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group had the following continuing connected transactions.

Annual expenditure for provision of services:

1. Anhui Industries and Trading Corporation (“AITC”): rental of production machineries RMB5,100,000

2. AITC: rental of factory complex RMB2,700,000

The Independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions for the year ended
31 March 2007 to which any member of the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. either (a) on normal commercial terms, or (b) where there was no available comparison, on terms no less favorable to the
Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that were fair and reasonable so far as the
shareholders of the Company were concerned and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have further confirmed that for the year ended 31 March 2007:

1. the aggregate annual rental for leased factory complex paid to AITC under the Premises Leases Agreement did not
exceed the annual cap of RMB2.7 million; and

2. the aggregate annual rental for leased production machineries paid to AITC under the Equipment Lease Agreements did
not exceed the total annual cap of RMB5.1 million.
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The auditor of the Group has reviewed the continuing connected transactions referred to above and confirmed to the Directors
that:

1. the transactions had received the approval of the Directors;

2. the transactions had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

3. the amounts of the transactions value had not exceeded the respective caps as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 12 April 2006.

Please also refer to Note 38 to the financial statements on page 97 for a summary of the related party transactions which
include the Group’s connected transactions.

Directors’ interest in competing business
None of the Directors of the Company had any interest, either direct or indirect, in any business, which may compete or
constitute a competition with the business of the Group.

Retirement schemes
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float
According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares.

Auditor
The financial statements have been audited by RSM Nelson Wheeler who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Nelson Wheeler
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Norstar Founders Group Limited
Lilly Huang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2007
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This corporate governance report is issued pursuant to Appendix 23 of Rules Governing the Listing of Securities in Hong Kong.
The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory standards and adherence to the principles of
corporate governance emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness.

Corporate governance practices
The Company has complied with code provisions and, to certain extent, the recommended best practices of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) which is set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended
31 March 2007.

The Board
The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements, and is accountable to shareholders for the overall activities
and financial performance of the Group. Certain functions and authorities are delegated to the management for implementation
of objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. The Board
considers that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles in
Hong Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the
Board with an appropriate consideration to materiality. As at 31 March 2007, the Board, having made appropriate enquiries,
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis. The statement of the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group
is set out in Independent Auditor’s Report on page 48.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information which is required for their discharge of their duties as
Directors. Induction program has also been arranged for newly appointed Directors and opportunities to update and develop
skills and knowledge are provided to them.

As at 31 March 2007, the Company’s Board is composed of six executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) among members of the Board.

Details of the terms of appointment of the Directors is set out in the Directors’ report on page 39 to page 40.

The independent non-executive Directors are all experienced individuals with diversified industry expertise. Their mix of skills
and experience is an important element in the proper functioning of the Board and ensuring a high standard of financial and
other mandatory reporting. Their participation provides adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of both
the Group and its shareholders. As at 31 March 2007, the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing nearly one-third of the Board. The Company has received written confirmation from each independent non-
executive director of his independence to the Company. The Company considers all of them to be independent. One of the
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky has the requisite financial and accounting background.

The Chairman of the Board is Ms. Lilly Huang and the chief executive officer of the Company is Mr. Zhou Tian Bao. The
segregation of duties of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer ensures a clear distinction in the responsibility
of the chairman, who is an executive director, responsibility to oversee the functioning of the Board, and the chief executive
officer’s responsibility to manage the Group’s business.

The company secretary is responsible to the Board and ensures that the Board complies with all applicable laws and regulations.
The company secretary also keeps all minutes of meetings of the Board and the committees.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the operation and financial performance of the Group. Matters discussed in Board
meetings include internal control procedures, continuing connected transactions, relevant announcement and circulars, annual
and interim results of the Group, and recommendation on Directors’ appointment and resignation. The Board members had
met four times during the year:

Number of Members’
meetings average

Member of the Board attended attendance rate

Executive Directors:
Ms. Lilly Huang 3 75%
Mr. Zhou Tian Bao 4 100%
Ms. Zhang Zhen Juan 4 100%
Mr. Yang Bin 3 75%
Mr. Dai Wei 4 100%
Mr. Chen Xiang Dong 3 75%

Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis 3 75%

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 4 100%
Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy 2 50%
Mr. Zhang Jian Chun 3 75%

In accordance with the Company’s articles, one-third of the Directors, including both executive and non-executive Directors,
are required to retire from office at the Annual General Meeting in each year. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

Remuneration committee
The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management and the fees and emoluments of non-executive Directors.

The main elements of the Company’s emolument policy are that no individual should determine his or her own remuneration,
remuneration should reflect performance, complexity and responsibility of the individual, and the remuneration package will
be structured to include salary, bonus and share options to provide incentives to Directors and senior management to improve
their individual performance.

During the year, the committee reviewed the remuneration package of executive Directors and made recommendation to the
Board. As at 31 March 2007, the remuneration committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Choi Tat
Ying, Jacky (Chairman), Mr. Zhang Jian Chun, Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin,
Dannis.
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The remuneration committee met once during the year, and the meeting was held on 1 September 2006.

Number of Members’
meetings average

Member of the committee attended attendance rate

Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 1 100%
Mr. Zhang Jian Chun 1 100%
Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy 1 100%
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis 1 100%

Nomination committee
The primary duties of the nomination committee are to consider and assess the qualifications and character of candidates for
Directorships on the Board, if any. The recommendations of the nomination committee are then put forward for consideration
and adoption by the Board. The selection of individual to become Director is based on assessment of their professional
qualifications and experience.

As at 31 March 2007, the nomination committee comprised one non-executive Director, Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis (Chairman)
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky, Mr. Zhang Jian Chun and Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy.

Audit committee
The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, and the financial reporting process and internal control systems of the Group. It also monitors the appointment and
function of the Group’s external auditor.

During the year, it reviewed the Group’s interim results, annual results and internal control system. As at 31 March 2007, the
audit committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky (Chairman), Mr.
Zhang Jian Chun and Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy. The audit committee met three times during the year, and the meetings were held
on 22 June 2006,16 November 2006 and 29 March 2007 respectively.

Number of Members’
meetings average

Member of the committee attended attendance rate

Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 3 100%
Mr. Zhang Jian Chun 3 100%
Ms. Zhang Xin, Cindy 3 100%

The audit committee held a meeting on 28 June 2007 to review the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2007 and to give opinion and advice to the Board of the Company.
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External auditor
The Group’s external auditor is RSM Nelson Wheeler. The non-audit functions to the Group, if any, were reviewed by the audit
committee. The audit committee also considers in advance whether such non-audit functions would lead to any potential
material conflict of interest.

During the year, the services provided by RSM Nelson Wheeler to the Group were as follows:

RMB’000

Audit Service 1,320
Non-Audit Services —

Internal control and risk management
The Board of the Company is granted full authority to maintain the soundness and effectiveness of the internal control system
and risk management procedures of the Group, including setting an internal review team composed of members from various
department to ensure efficient and effective use of the Group’s resources to assist the Group in achieving its operation
objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets against any unauthorized use or disposal, ensuring an appropriate maintenance
of accounting records and the availability of reliable financial information for internal use or external release, and ensuring
compliance of all operating activities with laws and regulations. The control system is intended to have in place reasonable
safeguards against material misrepresentation or loss, and to ensure safeguard on shareholders’ interests.

The Board has conducted a meeting on 29 March 2007 to review the internal control system of the Group and confirmed its
effectiveness. The Board intends to further improve its internal control and risk management with a view to achieve a better
work flow in future.

Directors’ securities transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors, and the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.

Specified employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was
noted by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Investor relations
The Company uses two-way communication channels to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. All the shareholders have 21 days’ notice of annual general meeting at which Directors are available to answer
questions on the business. Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in its Annual Report and Interim
Report which are sent to shareholders and investors.

The Company conducts briefings with analysts and press to apprise them of the Group’s operating results, business strategies
and outlook right after reporting its interim or annual results. Highlights of the Company’s operating performance are also
released on a quarterly basis. Other than those regular updates, the Company issues announcements or press releases where
appropriate to comply with the Listing Rules requirement or keeps the public informed of the Company’s latest development. In
order to further enhance communication with the investment community, the Group’s management holds regular roadshows,
and participates actively in company visits and investors’ conferences.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NORSTAR FOUNDERS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Norstar Founders Group Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages
49 to 97, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2007, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
HKICPA. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2007 and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2007
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>>CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Note 2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover 6 3,497,159 2,658,993
Cost of goods sold (2,881,914) (2,165,218)

Gross profit 615,245 493,775
Other income 7 48,568 21,067
Distribution and selling expenses (57,508) (49,135)
Administrative expenses (116,929) (59,909)

Profit from operations 489,376 405,798
Finance costs 9 (71,046) (66,389)

418,330 339,409
Share of profits of an associate 35,655 42,755

Profit before tax 453,985 382,164
Income tax expense 10 (49,835) (34,851)

Profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company 11 404,150 347,313

Dividends 14 108,644 94,003

Earnings per share 15
Basic RMB32.79 cents RMB35.24 cents

Diluted RMB32.29 cents RMB34.47 cents
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2007

Note 2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 854,567 739,198
Prepaid land lease payments 17 56,282 57,530
Goodwill 18 29,639 29,639
Other intangible assets 19 743 —
Investment in an associate 20 423,357 396,690

1,364,588 1,223,057

Current assets
Inventories 21 81,202 44,850
VAT receivable 22 145,625 127,168
Trade and other receivables 23 715,059 715,532
Pledged bank deposits 24 16,450 16,670
Cash and bank balances 24 1,727,085 1,063,163

2,685,421 1,967,383

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 186,867 99,584
Short-term borrowings 26 186,978 175,875
Current portion of non-current borrowings 27 361,265 188,440
Convertible bonds 29 56,753 —
Current tax liabilities 14,128 13,330

805,991 477,229

Net current assets 1,879,430 1,490,154

Total assets less current liabilities 3,244,018 2,713,211

Non-current liabilities
Non-current borrowings 27 279,720 616,336
Convertible bonds 29 — 66,645

279,720 682,981

NET ASSETS 2,964,298 2,030,230

Capital and reserves
Share capital 30 131,598 113,940
Reserves 33 2,832,700 1,916,290

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 2,964,298 2,030,230

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2007

Lilly Huang Zhou Tian Bao
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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>>CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Foreign
currency Share-based General Enterprise

Share Share Capital translation payment Merger reserve expansion Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve fund fund profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 April 2005 103,350 838,535 7,053 708 — (299,310 ) 63,657 63,657 689,991 1,467,641
Translation difference — — — 15,219 — — — — — 15,219

Net income recognised
directly in equity — — — 15,219 — — — — — 15,219

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 347,313 347,313

Total recognised income and
expense for the year — — — 15,219 — — — — 347,313 362,532

Issue of shares upon conversion
of convertible bonds (note 30(b)) 10,590 261,463 (5,642 ) — — — — — — 266,411

Transfer to statutory reserves — — — — — — 34,935 34,935 (69,870 ) —
2005 Final dividend paid — — — — — — — — (45,937 ) (45,937 )
2006 Interim dividend paid — — — — — — — — (20,417 ) (20,417 )

At 31 March 2006 113,940 1,099,998 1,411 15,927 — (299,310 ) 98,592 98,592 901,080 2,030,230

At 1 April 2006 113,940 1,099,998 1,411 15,927 — (299,310 ) 98,592 98,592 901,080 2,030,230

Translation difference — — — 11,057 — — — — — 11,057
Share issue expenses paid — (19,453 ) — — — — — — — (19,453 )

Net expense recognised
directly in equity — (19,453 ) — 11,057 — — — — — (8,396 )

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 404,150 404,150

Total recognised income and
expense for the year — (19,453 ) — 11,057 — — — — 404,150 395,754

Issue of shares (note 30(a)) 17,255 608,239 — — — — — — — 625,494
Issue of shares upon conversion of

convertible bonds (note 30(b)) 403 10,233 (221 ) — — — — — — 10,415
Recognition of share-based payments — — — — 3,554 — — — — 3,554
Transfer to statutory reserves — — — — — — 37,712 37,712 (75,424 ) —
2006 final dividend paid — — — — — — — — (73,278 ) (73,278 )
2007 interim dividend paid — — — — — — — — (27,871 ) (27,871 )

At 31 March 2007 131,598 1,699,017 1,190 26,984 3,554 (299,310 ) 136,304 136,304 1,128,657 2,964,298
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2007

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 453,985 382,164
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 51,452 22,794
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 1,248 1,248
Amortisation of other intangible assets 39 —
Share-based payments 3,554 —
Share of profits of an associate (35,655) (42,755)
Amortisation of loan arrangement fee of convertible bonds 1,072 6,793
Redemption premium on convertible bonds 3,073 13,879
Finance charges 2,737 2,464
Interest expenses 63,110 42,281
Interest income (22,940) (9,507)

Operating profit before working capital changes 521,675 419,361
Increase in inventories (36,352) (12,004)
Increase in trade receivables (128,201) (208,744)
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables 125,682 4,712
Decrease in due from related companies 1,554 2,377
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged bank deposits 220 (39)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 52,100 (20,953)
Increase/(Decrease) in due to Directors 971 (2,832)
Decrease in due to a related company — (106)
Increase in accruals and other payables 27,784 26,335

Cash generated from operations 565,433 208,107
Interest received 22,940 9,507
PRC enterprise income tax paid (49,037) (28,209)
Value-added tax paid, net (12,029) (9,627)

Net cash generated from operating activities 527,307 179,778

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (165,128) (76,490)
Acquisition of other intangible assets (782) —
Dividend received from an associate 8,280 —
Decrease in amount due to an associate — (16)

Net cash used in investing activities (157,630) (76,506)
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2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of finance lease payables (21,897) (15,789)
Proceeds from new short-term borrowings 235,449 228,167
Repayment of short-term borrowings (223,201) (199,092)
Net proceeds from issuance of shares 606,041 —
Net proceeds from syndicated loan — 750,738
Repayment of syndicated loan (162,475) (402,800)
Net proceeds from other bank loans 46,747 1,349
Repayment of other bank loans (460) (40,280)
Dividends paid (101,149) (66,354)
Interest paid (59,973) (38,759)
Finance lease charges paid (2,737) (2,464)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 316,345 214,716

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 686,022 317,988

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (22,100) 6,888

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,063,163 738,287

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,727,085 1,063,163

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 1,727,085 1,063,163
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business is Room B,19th Floor,
Tower II Admiralty Centre, 18 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34
to the financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The application of these new
HKFRSs will not have material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investments which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The
areas involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Control is the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has
control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the
Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill relating to the subsidiary which was not previously
charged or recognised in the consolidated income statement and also any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised profits on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

(b) Business combination and goodwill
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the subsidiary in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated income statement and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policies of an entity but is not control or joint control over those policies. The existence
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity method of accounting
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for
impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated income statement.

The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interests in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate represents the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the
Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill relating to the associate which was not previously charged
or recognised in the consolidated income statement and also any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s presentation currency and the
functional currency of the principal operating subsidiaries.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rates ruling
on the balance sheet date. Profits and losses resulting from this translation policy are included in the income
statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)
(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements (continued)

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary items, such as equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the
investment revaluation reserve in equity.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

— Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the income statement
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Moulds 3 years
Machinery and equipment 5 - 10 years
Office equipment and fixtures 5 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and machinery pending installation, and
is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

(f) Leases
(i) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed in
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a finance lease is capitalised at the lower of the
fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as finance lease payable. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same as owned assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally-
generated intangible asset is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

— An asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new processes);

— It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and

— The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally-generated intangible assets are measured initially at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.

(h) License right
Expenditure on acquiring license for production technology and cost of technical assistance and training is initially
recognised and measured at cost, which represent the capitalisation and unavoidable license fee and training cost
payments in accordance with the license agreement. Cost of license and training assistance is amortised over a
period of ten years or the remaining life of the relevant license agreement, whichever is the shorter.

(i) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(j) Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Investments are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale financial
assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either investments held for trading or designated as at fair
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These investments are subsequently measured at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the receivables’
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition. The amount of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in the income statement when an increase in
the receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is
reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.

(m)Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(n) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds that consist of a liability and an equity component are regarded as compound instruments. At the
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar
non-convertible debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity of the Group, is included in equity as capital reserves.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged directly to
equity.

The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt to the liability component of the instrument. The difference between this amount and the
interest paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible bonds.

(p) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

(q) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(r) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sales of manufactured goods are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic
salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the income statement represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which
is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(t) Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain Directors and employees. Equity-settled share-
based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that
will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

(u) Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credtis can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w)Related parties

A party is related to the Group if:

(i) directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;
or has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the party is an associate;

(iii) the party is a joint venture;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

(x) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products and services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that geographical segments
be presented as the primary reporting format and business as the secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment. Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease payments, goodwill, inventories
and trade receivables. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude items such as tax liabilities and
corporate borrowings.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between Group enterprises within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar
terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one period.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the countries in which customers are located. Total
assets and capital expenditure are based on where the assets are located.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(y) Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
goodwill, inventories and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(z) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(aa) Events after the balance sheet date
Events after the balance sheet date that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the balance
sheet date or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the financial statements. Events after the balance sheet date that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when material.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), RMB and United States Dollars
(“USD”). Certain trade receivables and payables and borrowings of the Group are denominated in USD and is
therefore exposed to USD currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

(b) Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables included in the consolidated balance sheet represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from the Group’s interest-bearing bank deposits and bank borrowings.
These deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing market condition.

(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated balance
sheet approximate their respective fair values.

6. TURNOVER
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of auto parts and construction decorative hardware
products. The Group’s turnover which represents the sales of goods to customers are as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Auto parts 3,116,595 2,297,521
Construction decorative hardware products 380,564 361,472

3,497,159 2,658,993

7. OTHER INCOME

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fair value gains (realised) on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss 941 —

Interest income 22,940 9,507
Income from scrap sales 22,277 11,550
Rental income 1,950 —
Sundry income 460 10

48,568 21,067
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary reporting format - geographical segments

The Group operates within one geographical segment which is the PRC. All segment assets, liabilities and capital
expenditure are located in the PRC and therefore no geographical segments are presented, except for the segment
revenue and segment results. Segment revenue and segment results are presented based on the geographical location of
customers.

Secondary reporting format – business segments

The Group’s business is mainly categorised into two business segments:

— Auto parts; and

— Construction decorative hardware products.

(i) Primary reporting format – geographical segments
For the year ended 31 March 2007

United The PRC
States Canada Europe and others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 1,430,245 886,027 739,096 441,791 3,497,159

Segment results 252,976 164,930 131,293 66,046 615,245

For the year ended 31 March 2006

United The PRC
States Canada Europe and others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue 1,222,501 789,423 623,620 23,449 2,658,993

Segment results 226,841 153,435 111,057 2,442 493,775
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(ii) Secondary reporting format - business segments
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Carrying
amount of

segment Capital
Revenue assets expenditure
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Auto parts 3,116,595 1,371,061 149,625
Construction decorative hardware products 380,564 146,005 14,155

3,497,159 1,517,066 163,780

Unallocated assets 2,532,943 3,871

4,050,009 167,651

For the year ended 31 March 2006

Carrying
amount of

segment Capital
Revenue assets expenditure
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Auto parts 2,297,521 1,142,558 93,027
Construction decorative hardware products 361,472 133,265 265

2,658,993 1,275,823 93,292

Unallocated assets 1,914,617 8,524

3,190,440 101,816
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9. FINANCE COSTS

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank charges 1,054 972
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases 2,737 2,464
Interest on bank borrowings 63,110 42,281
Interest on convertible bonds 4,145 20,672

71,046 66,389

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

(a) Current tax – PRC
Provision for the year 49,835 34,851

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits in Hong Kong
during the year (2006: Nil).

Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the principal subsidiaries, Norstar Automotive Industries, Inc.
(“Norstar Automotive”) and Norstar Auto Suspension Manufacturing (Beijing) Inc. (“Norstar Auto Suspension”), in
the PRC are exempted from PRC enterprise income tax for the two years from its first profit-making year and
thereafter are entitled to a 50% relief from the PRC enterprise income tax for the following three years.

In current year, Norstar Automotive was granted a tax relief with a tax rate of 11.5% (2006: 7.5%). Norstar Auto
Suspension was in the first profit-making year for the financial year ended 31 March 2007, and was therefore
exempted from PRC enterprise income tax.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of profit before tax (excluding share of profits
of an associate) multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax rate is as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax (excluding share of profits of an associate) 418,330 339,409

Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate of 11.5%
(2006: 7.5%) 48,108 25,456

Tax effect of income that is not taxable (2,511) (1,176)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 2,738 2,902
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised (96) —
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 10,191 3,032
Tax effect of profit exempted from income tax (7,633) (10)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (962) 4,647

Income tax expense 49,835 34,851

(c) No provision for deferred taxation has been made in the financial statements as the tax effect of taxable temporary
differences is immaterial to the Group.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has estimated unused tax losses of RMB116,268,000 (2006: RMB57,471,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets has been recognised (2006: Nil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of RMBNil (2006:
RMB1,292,000) that will be expired within five years. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging the following:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Auditors’ remuneration 1,660 975
Cost of inventories sold (note (a)) 2,881,914 2,165,218
Depreciation 51,452 22,794
Amortisation of other intangible assets 39 —
Research and development costs (note (b)) 115,635 95,537
Operating lease charges in respect of:

– Land 1,248 1,248
– Factory and office premises 7,164 4,192
– Plant and machinery 5,100 8,500

Net exchange losses 24,941 8,024
Staff costs including Directors’ emoluments:

Salaries, bonus and allowances 62,178 49,553
Share-based payments 3,554 —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 9,669 4,078

Notes:

(a) Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and operating lease charges of approximately RMB86,759,000 (2006:
RMB62,190,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed separately above.

(b) Research and development costs are included in staff costs, cost of inventories sold and depreciation which are disclosed separately
above.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of emoluments of the Directors of the Company disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 161 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2007

Basic
salaries,

other
allowances Retirement

and benefit
benefits Discretionary Share-based scheme

Fees in kind bonus payments contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Lilly Huang — 305 — — — 305
Zhou Tian Bao — 1,980 — — 8 1,988
Zhang Zhen Juan — 660 — 900 8 1,568
Yang Bin — 300 — 90 8 398
Dai Wei — 528 — 450 8 986
Chen Xiang Dong — 528 — 450 8 986

Non-executive Director

Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis 264 — — 45 — 309

Independent non-executive
Directors

Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 101 — — 45 — 146
Zhang Jian Chun (note) 101 — — — — 101
Zhang Xin, Cindy 101 — — — — 101

Total for 2007 567 4,301 — 1,980 40 6,888

Note: appointed on 1 April 2006
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2006

Basic
salaries,

other
allowances Retirement

and benefit
benefits Discretionary Share-based scheme

Fees in kind bonus payments contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Lilly Huang — 314 — — — 314
Zhou Tian Bao — 2,042 — — — 2,042
Zhang Zhen Juan — 680 — — 3 683
Yang Bin — 300 — — 1 301
Dai Wei — 299 — — 3 302
Chen Xiang Dong — 299 — — 3 302

Non-executive Director

Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis 176 96 — — — 272

Independent non-executive
Directors

Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 105 — — — — 105
Wu Chao Ying (note) 105 — — — — 105
Zhang Xin, Cindy 105 — — — — 105

Total for 2006 491 4,030 — — 10 4,531

Note: resigned on 1 April 2006
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year (2006:
RMB Nil).

The six (2006: five) highest paid employees in the Group included four (2006: two) Directors whose emoluments were
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2006: three) employees are set out
below:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind 2,112 2,680
Share-based payments 314 —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 24 25

2,450 2,705

The emoluments fell within the following band:

2007 2006
Number of Number of
employees employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 — 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 —

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The above emoluments include the value of share options granted to certain Directors and employees under the Company’s
share option scheme as estimated at the date of grant. Further details are disclosed under the section “Share option
scheme” in the Directors’ Report and in note 31 to the financial statements.

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

In addition to the participation in the MPF Scheme, the Group is required to contribute to a defined contribution retirement
scheme for its employees in the PRC based on the applicable basis and rates with the relevant government regulations.
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14. DIVIDENDS

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interim of HK$0.022 per ordinary share
(2006: HK$0.020 per ordinary share) 27,871 20,417

Proposed final of HK$0.065 per ordinary share
(2006: HK$0.057 per ordinary share) 80,773 73,586

108,644 94,003

A final dividend of HK$0.065 per ordinary share will be proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
in the financial statements, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31 March
2008.

Dividends payable to equity holders of the Company attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid
during the year:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year, of HK$0.057
per ordinary share (2006: HK$0.045 per ordinary share) 73,278 45,937
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings
Earnings for the purpose of calculating

basic earnings per share 404,150 347,313
Finance costs saving on exercise of convertible bonds 1,839 1,202

Earnings for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share 405,989 348,515

2007 2006

Number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year 1,077,320,976 975,000,000
Effect of issue of shares 154,164,384 —
Effect of conversion of convertible bonds 911,378 10,609,492

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating basic earnings per share 1,232,396,738 985,609,492

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from
convertible bonds outstanding 21,853,125 25,580,246

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in respect
of share options 3,110,917 —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating diluted earnings per share 1,257,360,780 1,011,189,738



N O R S TA R  F O U N D E R S  G R O U P  L I M I T E D78

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Machinery Office

and equipment Motor Construction
Buildings Moulds equipment and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost

At 1 April 2005 — 6,610 160,659 6,709 7,739 526,811 708,528
Reclassification 271,023 — 13,871 — — (284,894) —
Additions — — 50,366 6,320 1,828 43,302 101,816
Exchange differences — — — (5) (39) — (44)

At 31 March 2006 271,023 6,610 224,896 13,024 9,528 285,219 810,300
Reclassification 206,624 — 26,453 — — (233,077) —
Additions — — 97,441 3,456 36 65,936 166,869
Exchange differences — — — (13) (72) — (85)

At 31 March 2007 477,647 6,610 348,790 16,467 9,492 118,078 977,084

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2005 — 5,818 36,884 2,295 3,322 — 48,319
Charge for the year 4,996 80 14,708 1,557 1,453 — 22,794
Exchange differences — — — (3) (8) — (11)

At 31 March 2006 4,996 5,898 51,592 3,849 4,767 — 71,102
Charge for the year 15,170 712 31,808 2,351 1,411 — 51,452
Exchange differences — — — (6) (31) — (37)

At 31 March 2007 20,166 6,610 83,400 6,194 6,147 — 122,517

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2007 457,481 — 265,390 10,273 3,345 118,078 854,567

At 31 March 2006 266,027 712 173,304 9,175 4,761 285,219 739,198

The Group leases machinery and equipment under finance leases expiring from one to three years. At the end of each lease
term the Group has the option to purchase the machinery and equipment at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option.
None of the leases included contingent rentals.

At 31 March 2007 the carrying amount of machinery and equipment held by the Group under finance leases amounted to
RMB141,637,000 (2006: RMB90,566,000).
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 3,600 —
In the second to fifth years inclusive 6,900 —

10,500 —

17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payments for land use rights situated in the PRC under medium-term
leases.

18. GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been allocated to the auto parts cash-generating unit, which is a
reportable segment, for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the auto parts cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a period of five years.
The discount rate applied to cash flow projects is 9.5% and cash flows beyond five year period are extrapolated using
a growth rate of 3% which is determined with reference to the prevailing inflation rate in the PRC. Senior management
estimated the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and their expectations for market development. The
discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the auto parts cash-generating unit.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other intangible assets represent the cost of acquiring license for production technology and technical assistance and
training.

RMB’000

Cost
At 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 —
Additions 782

At 31 March 2007 782

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 —
Charge for the year 39

At 31 March 2007 39

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2007 743

At 31 March 2006 —
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investments outside Hong Kong:
Share of net assets 423,357 396,690

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 March 2007 are as follows:

Proportion of
ownership interest

Form of Place of Group’s
business incorporation Class of effective Held by Principal

Company structure and operation shares interest a subsidiary activities

Profound Global Limited Incorporated British Virgin Islands Ordinary 40% 40% Investment holding

Profound Global Limited is an investment holding company and its principal subsidiaries are engaged in manufacturing
and distribution of metal hardware products, trading and distribution of auto parts. Details of the principal subsidiaries
of the associate as at 31 March 2007 are as follows:

Form of Place of Proportion of
business incorporation registered capital

Company structure and operation held by the associate Principal activities

Direct Indirect

偉業重工（安徽）有限公司 Incorporated The PRC — 100% Manufacture and
Grandwell Heavy Industry (Anhui) distribution of metal

Company Limited* hardware products
偉業汽車零部件（瀋陽）有限公司 Incorporated The PRC — 100% Trading and distribution
Profound Automobile (Shenyang) of auto parts

Company Limited*

* name for reference only.
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20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited) (unaudited)

At 31 March

Total assets 1,154,394 1,075,293
Total liabilities (96,001) (83,568)

Net assets 1,058,393 991,725

Group’s share of an associate’s net assets 423,357 396,690

Year ended 31 March

Total revenue 1,360,807 1,588,480

Total profit for the year 89,138 106,888

Group’s share of an associate’s profit for the year 35,655 42,755

21. INVENTORIES

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 32,516 15,090
Work in progress 5,217 —
Finished goods 43,469 29,760

81,202 44,850

22. VAT RECEIVABLE
VAT receivable represented PRC value-added tax recoverable at the balance sheet dates.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables (note a and b) 641,509 513,308
Dividend receivable 7,914 8,280
Prepayments and other receivables 65,636 192,390
Due from a related company (note c) — 1,554

715,059 715,532

(a) The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

0 - 90 days 641,005 503,777
91 - 180 days 504 9,429
181 - 365 days — 102

641,509 513,308

Normally, 30 to 90 days credit term is granted to customers.

(b) Included in trade receivables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than RMB:

2007 2006
USD’000 USD’000

Trade receivables in other currency 72,576 63,400

(c) The amount due from a related company disclosed pursuant to section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
is as follows:

Maximum
amount

Name of Balance Balance outstanding
director having the at 1 April at 31 March during

Name of company beneficial interest 2006 2007 the year
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Anhui Industries and Mr. Zhou Tian Bao 1,554 — 1,554
Trading Corporation
(“AITC”)

The above advance was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed repayment terms.
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances 965,592 866,463
Time deposits 777,943 213,370

1,743,535 1,079,833
Less: Pledged bank deposits (16,450) (16,670)

1,727,085 1,063,163

(a) As at 31 March 2007, the pledged bank deposits were used as security for certain banking facilities. The deposits
are in HKD and at fixed interest rates ranging from 2.75% to 4% per annum (2006: 3.05% to 3.75% per annum),
and therefore are subject to foreign currency risk and fair value interest rate risk.

(b) As at 31 March 2007, approximately RMB1,653,940,000 (2006: RMB1,042,591,000) of the Group’s cash and
bank balances and short term time deposits were denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB denominated
balances into foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The carrying amounts of the remaining cash and bank balances and short term time deposits are
denominated in the following currencies:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

USD 40,181 7,555
HKD 31,597 13,017
EURO 1,367 —

73,145 20,572

(c) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
depending on the immediate cash requirement of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates ranged from 2.75% to 5.31% per annum (2006: 1.71% to 2.25% per annum).
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (note a) 94,303 42,203
Accruals and other payables 84,804 57,020
VAT payables 6,428 —
Due to Directors (note b) 1,332 361

186,867 99,584

(a) Aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

0 - 90 days 84,946 37,270
91-180 days 7,573 2,025
181 - 365 days — 1,112
Over 1 year 1,784 1,796

94,303 42,203

(b) The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

26. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans, wholly repayable within one year
– Guaranteed by the Company (a) 56,978 25,875
– Guaranteed by a related party (b) 130,000 150,000

186,978 175,875

(a) Denominated in HKD and bore effective interest ranging from 4.2% to 6.4% per annum (2006: 5.9% per annum).

(b) Denominated in RMB and bore effective interest of 5.5% per annum (2006: 5.9% per annum).
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27. NON-CURRENT BORROWINGS

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans
Syndicated loan 565,146 752,766
Other bank loans 47,579 1,352

612,725 754,118
Finance lease payables (note 28) 28,260 50,658

640,985 804,776
Current portion of non-current borrowings (361,265) (188,440)

279,720 616,336

The bank loans are repayable as follows:

Within one year 341,734 165,631
In the second year 265,214 336,317
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 5,777 252,170

612,725 754,118

The syndicated loan is denominated in USD, and other bank loans are denominated in a currency other than RMB as
follows:

2007 2006
’000 ’000

Other bank loans USD1,737 USD168
EURO1,650 —
HKD17,535 —

The interest rates per annum of bank loans were as follows:

2007 2006

Syndicated loan LIBOR plus 1.05% LIBOR plus 1.05%
Other bank loans 5.90% to 7.75% 7% to 7.25%
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27. NON-CURRENT BORROWINGS (continued)

Other bank loans of approximately RMB47,579,000 (2006: RMB1,352,000) are arranged at floating interest rates
and expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The syndicated loan is also arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Other bank loans are secured by a charge over the Group’s certain bank deposits (note 24(a)) and corporate guarantee
given by the Company. The syndicated loan was secured by the following:

(i) continuing guarantee given by the Company; and

(ii) comply with certain financial covenants throughout term life of the facilities.

28. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES
Minimum Present value of minimum

lease payments lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 20,786 25,784 19,531 22,809
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 9,069 21,177 8,729 19,857
After five years — 8,295 — 7,992

29,855 55,256 28,260 50,658

Less: Future finance charges (1,595) (4,598) N/A N/A

Present value of lease obligations 28,260 50,658 28,260 50,658

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities) (19,531) (22,809)

Amount due for settlement
after 12 months 8,729 27,849

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its machinery and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is
three years. As at 31 March 2007, the effective borrowing rate was ranged 2.75% p.a. to 8.25% p.a. (2006: 2.75%
p.a. to 8% p.a.). Finance lease payables of approximately RMB12,990,000 (2006: RMB23,408,000) are arranged at
fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Interest rates of the remaining finance lease
payables are floating and determined at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. All
leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments. At
the end of each lease term, the Group has the option to purchase the machinery and equipment at nominal prices.

All finance lease payables are denominated in HKD.

The Group’s finance lease payables are secured by the lessor’s titles to the leased assets.



N O R S TA R  F O U N D E R S  G R O U P  L I M I T E D88

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2007

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
On 16 December 2004, the Company issued US$40 million worth of zero coupon Convertible Bonds with maturity date
on 16 December 2007 (the “Maturity Date”). The bonds are convertible, at the option of their holders, into ordinary
shares of the Company, par value HK$0.1 per share, at the conversion price of the equivalent of HK$2.70 per share at
any time on or after 15 June 2005 and prior to 6 December 2007. On 16 December 2005, the conversion price was
adjusted to HK$2.43 per share in accordance to the terms of the indenture. On 4 May 2006, the conversion price was
further adjusted to HK$2.40 per share. Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled, these bonds
will be redeemed in USD at 112.4864% of their principal amount on the Maturity Date.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes was determined at the issuance date, using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar debt without a conversion option of 4.75% and is carried as a long term liability. The
remaining portion was allocated to the conversion option that was recognised and included in shareholders’ equity.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 4.75% per annum to the liability
component for the 36 month period since the loan notes were issued.

The Directors estimate the fair value of the liability component of the convertible bonds at 31 March 2007 to be
approximately RMB56,753,000. This fair value has been calculated by discounting the future cash flows at the market
rate.

The convertible bonds will mature on 16 December 2007 and hence they are reclassified to current liabilities.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Ordinary share capital at HK$0.1 each

2007 2006 2007 2007 2006 2006
(in millions) (in millions) HK$’000 RMB’000 HK$’000 RMB’000

Authorised:

At the beginning and
at the end of year 5,000 5,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:

At the beginning of year 1,077 975 107,732 113,940 97,500 103,350
Shares issued (a) 170 — 17,000 17,255 — —
Shares issued upon conversion

of convertible bonds (b) 4 102 405 403 10,232 10,590

At the end of year 1,251 1,077 125,137 131,598 107,732 113,940

Note:

(a) Century Founders Group Limited (“the Vendor”) was the controlling shareholder of the Company holding 600,000,000 shares
representing 55.69% of the Company’s issued share capital as at 24 April 2006. The Vendor and the Company had entered into
a placing and subscription agreement (“Placing and Subscription Agreement”) dated 24 April 2006 with The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“the Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Placing Agent procured, on an underwritten
basis, purchasers to acquire, and the Vendor sold, 170,000,000 existing shares of the Company at the placing price of HK$3.625
per share. Pursuant to the Placing and Subscription Agreement, the Vendor had conditionally agreed to subscribe for 170,000,000
new shares at the placing price. Immediately after the placing and subscription, the Vendor’s shareholding in the Company’s
shares was reduced to 48.1% and the total number of issued share of the Company was increased from 1,077,320,976 to
1,247,320,976. The Vendor remained as the controlling shareholder of the Company after completion of the Placing and
Subscription Agreement. Net proceeds from the subscription was approximately HK$597 million (RMB606 million).

(b) During the year, convertible bonds with total nominal value of USD1,250,000 (2006: USD32,000,000) were converted into
ordinary shares of the Company. The conversions were conducted on predetermined exchange rate and conversion price of
HK$2.40 (2006: HK$2.43) per ordinary share of the Company. Totally 4,046,875 (2006: 102,320,976) new ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each were issued as a result of the conversions.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 September 2003 (“the Scheme”) whereby the Directors of the
Company are authorized, at their discretion, to invite, inter alia, employees of the Group (including Directors of any
company in the Group) to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The purpose of the scheme is to
provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Details of
the Scheme are disclosed in the Directors’ Report under the heading of “Share option scheme”.

Number of share options

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at
1 April during during during 31 March

Share option holders Date of grant 2006 the year the year the year 2007

Director

Ms. Zhang Zhen Juan 26/09/2006 — 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000
Mr. Dai Wei 26/09/2006 — 2,500,000 — — 2,500,000
Mr. Chen Xiang Dong 26/09/2006 — 2,500,000 — — 2,500,000
Mr. Yang Bin 26/09/2006 — 500,000 — — 500,000
Mr. Lee Cheuk Yin, Dannis 26/09/2006 — 250,000 — — 250,000
Mr. Choi Tat Ying, Jacky 26/09/2006 — 250,000 — — 250,000

— 11,000,000 — — 11,000,000

Employees of the Group

In aggregate 26/09/2006 — 10,025,000 — — 10,025,000

Total for all categories — 21,025,000 — — 21,025,000
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Details of options granted during the year:

Number
of options

Date of grant granted Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

26/09/2006 7,004,000 26/09/2006 - 25/09/2008 26/09/2008 - 03/09/2013 HK$2.57
26/09/2006 7,004,000 26/09/2006 - 25/09/2009 26/09/2009 - 03/09/2013 HK$2.57
26/09/2006 7,017,000 26/09/2006 - 25/09/2010 26/09/2010 - 03/09/2013 HK$2.57

Notes:

(1) Consideration paid to the Company for each grant of options was HK$1.00.

(2) The closing price of the shares of the Company quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25 September 2006, being the trading date
immediately before the date on which the share options were granted during the year, was HK$2.55.

(3) There was no exercisable share option at the end of the year. The options outstanding at the end of the year have a remaining
contractual life of 6.5 years (2006: Nil) and the exercise price is HK$2.57 (2006: Nil).

(4) The Binomial model was applied to estimate the fair value of share options granted by the Company. This pricing model requires
the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of the share price and expected life of option. Expected volatility
was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous three years. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, effective exercise
price, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. The changes in input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate. The following significant assumptions were used to deliver the fair value.

Share price at grant date: HK$2.56
Expected life: 4.0-6.3 years from grant date
Expected volatility: 43.7% based on historical volatility
Expected dividend yield: 1.5% on semi-annual basis, based on historical dividend payments
Risk free interest rate: 3.816% based on 7-year Exchange Fund Notes
Exit rate 0% for Directors; 20% for employees
Trigger price multiple 2 times for Directors; 1.5 times for employees

All the options forfeited before expiry of the options will be treated as lapsed options under the relevant share option scheme.

Based on the above assumptions, the computed fair value under the options granted during the year was approximately HK$0.908
per option share. The expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement for share options during the year ended 31
March 2007 was approximately RMB3,554,000 (2006: Nil).
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32. BALANCE SHEET OF THE COMPANY

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment in subsidiaries 289,112 302,498
Due from subsidiaries 1,682,451 1,069,310
Other current assets 1,925 3,062
Convertible bonds (56,753) (66,645)
Other current liabilities (895) (1,227)

NET ASSETS 1,915,840 1,306,998

Share capital 131,598 113,940
Reserves 1,784,242 1,193,058

TOTAL EQUITY 1,915,840 1,306,998
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33. RESERVES

(a) Company

Foreign Share-
currency based

Share Capital translation payment Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 April 2005 838,535 7,053 — — 46,929 892,517
Issue of shares upon conversion

of convertible bonds 261,463 (5,642) — — — 255,821
Profit for the year — — — — 135,222 135,222
Dividends paid — — — — (66,354) (66,354)
Translation difference — — (24,148) — — (24,148)

At 31 March 2006 1,099,998 1,411 (24,148) — 115,797 1,193,058

At 1 April 2006 1,099,998 1,411 (24,148) — 115,797 1,193,058
Issue of shares 608,239 — — — — 608,239
Share issue expenses paid (19,453) — — — — (19,453)
Issue of shares upon

conversion of
convertible bonds 10,233 (221) — — — 10,012

Recognition of shared-based payments — — — 3,554 — 3,554
Profit for the year — — — — 163,955 163,955
Dividends paid — — — — (101,149) (101,149)
Translation difference — — (73,974) — — (73,974)

At 31 March 2007 1,699,017 1,190 (98,122) 3,554 178,603 1,784,242
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33. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Capital reserve

The value of the unexercised equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in note 3(o) to the financial statements.

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 3(d)(iii) to the financial statements.

(iv) Share-based payment reserve

The fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted to employees of the
Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 3(t) to
the financial statements.

(v) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Group and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued at the date of reorgansiation as set out in
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2003.

(vi) General reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund

Two subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC, being foreign investment enterprises, are required to
appropriate an amount from the net profit reported in their statutory accounts to two statutory reserves, namely
general reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund. Both funds are designated for specific purposes. Based
on Directors’ resolutions, the PRC subsidiaries appropriated 10% of their statutory net profit to the general
reserve fund and the enterprise expansion fund respectively for the years ended 31 March 2006 and 2007.
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2007 are as follows:

Percentage of
ownership

Issued and interest/
Date and place paid up voting power/ Principal activities/

Name of incorporation capital profit sharing place of operation
Direct Indirect

Fullitech International 2 April 2001 US$100 100% — Investment holding/
Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong

Norstar Automobile 17 March 1994 HK$100,000,000 — 100% Investment holding, marketing,
Industrial Holding Limited Hong Kong trading and distribution of
(“Norstar Holding”) auto parts and construction

decorative hardware
products/Hong Kong

北泰汽車工業有限公司 * 11 June 1997 RMB710,000,000 — 100% Manufacturing and sale of auto
(“Norstar Automotive”) The PRC parts and construction

decorative hardware
products/The PRC

北泰汽車懸架製造 29 June 2004 HK$400,000,000 — 100% Design, development, and
　(北京)有限公司 * The PRC (2006: US$15,000,000) sales of auto suspension

(“Norstar Auto Suspension”) system/The PRC

* These principal subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprise under the PRC law.

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
(i) Finance leases

During the year the Group entered into finance leases in respect of machinery and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB1,741,000 (2006: RMB25,620,000).

(ii) During the year, 4,046,875 (2006: 102,320,976) ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.1 each were issued
as a result of conversion of convertible bonds (Note 30(b)).
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group’s capital commitments at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted but not provided for
– purchases of machinery and equipment 144,217 128,818
– construction in progress 3,851 9,204

148,068 138,022

37. LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2007, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of plant
and office building and machinery and equipment are payable as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 8,250 7,800
In the second to fifth years inclusive 7,800 15,600

16,050 23,400

The Group also had the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of its office
premises and staff quarters located in the PRC and Hong Kong as follows:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 1,800 1,334
In the second to fifth years inclusive 2,328 1,863

4,128 3,197

The Group leases a number of properties and items of plant, machinery and equipment under operating leases. The
leases run for an initial period from one to three years, with an option to renew the lease and renegotiate. The terms at
the expiring date or dates as mutually agreed between the Group and respective lessors. None of these include contingent
rentals.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group
had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

2007 2006
RMB’000 RMB’000

Rental for leased office building, manufacturing premises,
plant and machinery and equipment paid to AITC (a) 7,800 10,800

Rental for leased office building and staff quarters
paid to related companies (b) 1,488 1,131

Note:

(a) Pursuant to lease agreements entered into between Norstar Automotive and AITC, AITC has leased to Norstar Automotive certain
office buildings, manufacturing premises and plant and machinery and equipment. AITC, a company established in the PRC, is
jointly owned and managed by Mr. Zhou Tian Bao, a director of the Company, and his spouse.

(b) Those premises are beneficially owned by Mr. Zhou Tian Bao.

A related company provided corporate guarantee of up to a maximum amount of RMB200 million (2006: RMB200
million) in respect of short-term banking facilities given to the Group (note 26(b)).

39. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 30 April 2007, the Group entered into a Facility Agreement (“the Facility”) with a syndicate of banks, pursuant to
which a loan facility of up to HK$1,450,000,000 is granted. The final maturity date of any sums outstanding under the
Facility is 29 April 2011. The Group subsequently utilised a partial facility of HK$1,150,000,000 in order to repay in
full of an outstanding syndicated loan previously obtained in November 2005 and use for general working capital.

40. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2007.



N O R S TA R  F O U N D E R S  G R O U P  L I M I T E D98

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the consolidated income statements and balance sheets of the Group.

Consolidated income statements

For the year ended 31 March
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(RMB’000) (Restated)

Turnover 1,380,267 1,711,442 2,206,041 2,658,993 3,497,159
Cost of goods sold (1,131,800) (1,427,025) (1,837,349) (2,165,218) (2,881,914)

Gross profit 248,467 284,417 368,692 493,775 615,245

Other income 4,818 14,962 11,196 21,067 48,568
Distribution and

selling expenese (49,978) (55,597) (36,653) (49,135) (57,508)
Administrative expenses (29,528) (29,292) (38,380) (59,909) (116,929)

Profit from operations 173,779 214,490 304,855 405,798 489,376
Finance costs (23,660) (17,246) (33,697) (66,389) (71,046)

150,119 197,244 271,158 339,409 418,330
Share of profits of

an associate — — 12,024 42,755 35,655

Profit before tax 150,119 197,244 283,182 382,164 453,985
Income tax expense (3,467) (14,841) 683 (34,851) (49,835)

Profit for the year 146,652 182,403 283,865 347,313 404,150

Attributable to :
Equity holders of

the Company 131,722 163,521 273,487 347,313 404,150
Minority interests 14,930 18,882 10,378 — —

146,652 182,403 283,865 347,313 404,150
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Consolidated balance sheets

At 31 March
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(RMB’000) (Restated)

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 50,304 327,187 660,209 739,198 854,567
Prepaid land lease payments 13,457 13,171 58,778 57,530 56,282
Goodwill — — 29,639 29,639 29,639
Other Intangible assets — — — — 743
Interest in an associate — — 206,539 396,690 423,357

63,761 340,358 955,165 1,223,057 1,364,588

Current assets:
Inventories 108,153 48,212 32,846 44,850 81,202
VAT receivable 53,089 57,461 117,541 127,168 145,625
Trade and other receivables 266,031 373,883 515,912 715,532 715,059
Pledged bank deposits — — — 16,670 16,450
Cash and bank balances 226,217 326,821 754,918 1,063,163 1,727,085

653,490 806,377 1,421,217 1,967,383 2,685,421

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 34,068 34,051 99,171 99,584 186,867
Short-term borrowings 310,000 260,000 146,800 175,875 186,978
Current portion of

non-current borrowings — — 203,633 188,440 361,265
Notes payable — 20,000 — — —
Convertible bonds — — — — 56,753
Current tax liabilities 26,579 35,118 6,688 13,330 14,128

370,647 349,169 456,292 477,229 805,991

Net current assets 282,843 457,208 964,925 1,490,154 1,879,430

Total assets less
current liabilities 346,604 797,566 1,920,090 2,713,211 3,244,018
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Consolidated balance sheets (continued)

At 31 March
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

(RMB’000) (Restated)

Non-current liabilities:
Non-current borrowings — — 280,568 616,336 279,720
Convertible bonds — — 327,541 66,645 —

— — 608,109 682,981 279,720

Net assets 346,604 797,566 1,311,981 2,030,230 2,964,298

Capital and reserves:
Share Capital 106 87,980 103,350 113,940 131,598
Reserve 309,698 658,087 1,208,631 1,916,290 2,832,700

Attributable to equity
holders of the Company 309,804 746,067 1,311,981 2,030,230 2,964,298

Minority interests 36,800 51,499 — — —

346,604 797,566 1,311,981 2,030,230 2,964,298
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